FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/10/2022 11:30 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____101450-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 55453-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARRI WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459 James E. Lobsenz, WSBA No. 8787 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

This Public Records Act ("PRA") case arises out of Petitioner Carri Williams' effort to stop sexually abusive pat searches by a female corrections officer ("CO") by the only means available to her as an incarcerated woman, filing "PREA Complaints" with prison authorities, and the Supreme Court Writ proceedings that ensued after prison officials infracted Williams for alleged "false reporting" of the sexually abusive searches. Two separate PRA requests arose during the Writ proceeding requesting prior similar complaints or discipline as to the CO. DOC's delayed production of 180, 231 and 434 days for the requests precluded use of those records in the Writ proceeding.

Williams filed a PRA complaint after DOC's delays caused that production to occur only after the Court had finally disposed of the Writ case on March 6, 2020, and the documents could not be used in it. DOC's defense was it was not capable of prioritizing requests or prompt production due to lack of staff and software. The trial court accepted that defense and dismissed

Williams' complaint. Division II accepted DOC's defense in its August 30, 2022, decision ("Decision"), and denied reconsideration. The Decision means prompt production of requested records cannot be required of state agencies that claim lack of staff or resources, excising that statutory requirement.

Petitioner asks the Court to grant review of the Decision holding that DOC's "un-prompt" production of Williams' requests did not violate the PRA. Williams asks the Court to rule that DOC's defense of maintaining a "system" of handling such requests that did not allow it to prioritize requests or otherwise act promptly due to claimed lack of staff or technology is not a valid defense to prompt production under the PRA, consistent with Division III's recent decision, which Division II ignored, Cantu v. Yakima School Dist. No. 7,___ Wn.App.2d ____, 514 P.3d 661 (2022). Cantu reversed the trial court and held the delayed response of 172 days after that PRA request was made, which forced the requestor to file the PRA complaint, constituted a "constructive denial" of the request, which was **not** excused by

the agency's claimed insufficient allocation of resources or lack of prioritization. *Id.*, at 678-682, ¶¶ 88-111. The Division II panel was provided with, but ignored, *Cantu*.

The delays in Williams' case were **231 days** and **434 days** for a partial, then final production of the July 24, 2019, request No. 7712; and **180 days** after "acknowledgement" of request No. 8646 created September 11, 2019. *See* Opening Brief ("OB") at pp. 9-11, App. A-41-43, setting out the time frame for the requests and DOC production. The delays triggered Williams' complaint served on August 25, 2020, **400 days** after request No. 7712. *See* OB at 9-10. App. A-41-42. *Compare, Cantu.*

The Court should grant review based on the conflict with *Cantu* where the production delays in Williams' case were far longer than the delays in *Cantu*, yet Division III found PRA violations despite the same "lack of resources" defense while Division II did not. The Court should grant review so the same law applies throughout the State. It should reverse and remand to the trial court for a calculation of penalties and full fees.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Following a non-argument consideration date of May 2, 2022, and Williams' August 4 filing of a RAP 10.8 additional authority providing the *Cantu* decision filed on August 2, the Division II panel filed the Decision on August 30, 2022, App. A-1-21, and denied reconsideration October 11, 2022. App. A-22.

The panel decision affirmed on the major issue of whether DOC violated the PRA by its delayed production, App. A-1 & A-14-18, but reversed "with respect to one response letter", App. A-1 & 12-14. Based on the limited reversal, the panel awarded fees solely for the one violation, but not for the remainder of the appeal. App. A-1 & 19-20. Williams timely filed her fee application on September 9, 2022, to which DOC did not object.

Williams filed her reconsideration motion based primarily on *Cantu* on September 19. App. A-23-39, which is incorporated herein in full by reference.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should review be granted because the Decision directly conflicts with Division III's published decision in *Cantu v. Yakima School Dist. No. 7*, which found a constructive denial of a Public Records Act request by delays of over 172 days, while Division II's Decision herein found *no* constructive denial of Williams' requests and no violation of the PRA by the DOC's delays of 180, 231, and 434 days, each production being completed only *after* the time it could be used by Williams?
- 2. The PRA and this Court's decisions require the prompt production of the requested records under the Public Records Act. Should review be granted because the Court of Appeals decision allowing DOC to delay 180, 231, and 434 days in producing records conflicts with the prompt production requirement of the statue and this Court's decisions, including *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*?
- 3. Should review be granted to correct Division II's analysis which permits an agency to delay production of records

under the PRA due to lack of personnel or software and a stated inability to prioritize and expedite requests?

- 4. Should review be granted to correct Division II's mistaken analysis which excises from the PRA any requirement for "prompt" production of documents by state agencies on the basis of lack of personnel or software, contrary to the statute and cases, including *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*, 168 Wn.2d 444, 229 P.3d 735 (2010) and *Cantu v. Yakima School Dist. No.* 7, ___ Wn.App.2d ____, 514 P.3d 661 (2022)?
- 5. Should review be granted to address the quantum of penalties that should be imposed on an agency which maintains a system or rather a non-system for "responding" to PRA requests which makes it impossible to prioritize requests and responses and effectively precludes prompt production of requested records, in disregard of the clear requirements of the PRA?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

Appellant Carri Williams is an inmate at the Washington Corrections Center for Women at Purdy. This PRA case arose out of Williams' efforts to stop sexually abusive pat searches by corrections officer Alice Kaleopa ("CO Kaleopa"), by the only means available to her as an incarcerated woman: filing "PREA" Complaints" with prison authorities. Those filings resulted in the prison authorities "infracting" her by charging her with the alleged offense of "false reporting" for which she could have been severely disciplined. See OB at 12-18. Williams quickly filed a Writ in the Supreme Court and requested an immediate stay of the disciplinary proceedings at the prison pending resolution of the Writ case. *Id.* DOC continued the disciplinary hearing, the matter was briefed and argued to Commissioner Johnston who granted direct review on July 1, 2019. *Id.* The writ

¹ Pages 8-18 of Williams' Opening Brief give the full context of the underlying prison discipline and the Supreme Court Writ case. For convenience, they are in the Appendix at A-40-50.

proceeding then ensued during 2019-2020. *Id.* Immediately after review was granted DOC took steps to moot the legal issues while leaving Williams – and other prisoners – at continued risk of being molested without genuine recourse.² *See* OB at 15-16, App. A-47-48.

Three separate PRA requests arose during that Supreme Court proceeding, one related to the disciplinary hearing, and two requesting similar complaints or discipline as to CO Kaleopa. As set out in the Amended Complaint, the Department unreasonably delayed the production of the records for each of Williams' requests when time was of the essence, precluding or compromising use of those documents in the Supreme Court Writ proceeding, among other circumstances making statutory damages appropriate. *See* OB at 14-18, App. A-46-50.

-

² The DOC amended the constitutionally offensive regulation and policy, then dismissed the disciplinary proceeding against Williams. These steps, however, left Williams and other prisoners at risk of future misconduct by CO Kaleopa without the guard being held to account. *See* OB at 15-17, App. A-47-49.

Williams filed her PRA complaint on August 20, 2020. She argued that DOC violated the PRA by delaying its **production** of the requested records beyond the date they would be useful in the then-pending Supreme Court Writ proceedings and, therefore, violated the terms of the PRA as well as relevant case law. *See* OB at 26-44, arguing these delays were not justified and violated the plain terms of the PRA which requires "prompt" **production**. OB at 30-33. This includes penalties per *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*, 168 Wn.2d 444 (2010), cited throughout the Opening Brief.

The trial court accepted DOC's defense that it could not prioritize requests due to staff and software issues and, thus, that it could not respond promptly to *any* request such as Williams' since all were simply placed in line and there was a long line.

See FOF 7 at CP 2318:

7. [The Department] does not have a method of "prioritizing" public record requests; rather, the requests are processed in the order in which they are received.

The trial court ruled that DOC acted reasonably and dismissed Williams' complaint. As noted, Division II erroneously affirmed as to Williams' delay/constructive denial claim.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the recent published decision of Division III in *Cantu v. Yakima School Dist. No.* 7 which applies the PRA and this Court's decisions to confirm agencies are not excused from the requirement of prompt production; review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).
 - 1. Cantu holds that large agencies are not exempt but have great responsibility to comply with the PRA's prompt production requirement, including giving records requests their "due priority."

In *Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No. 7, supra,* Division III held that the Yakima School District was liable for delaying PRA production for 172 days, forcing the requestor to file a PRA complaint. Division III held: "[A]dministrative inconvenience or difficulty in producing records does not excuse [the agency's] lack of diligence" nor does "insufficient allocation of resources and lack of priorities." *Cantu,* 514 P.3d at 681-82, ¶108. This

conflicts with Division II's Decision in this case. Here DOC's defense was it did not have enough resources and it was unable to prioritize. Division II's Decision accepted DOC's defense as an excuse from PRA requirements and liability, while Division III in *Cantu* expressly rejected that defense and reversed the trial court for imposing inadequate penalties for the agency's failure to comply with the PRA when constructively denying the request. This conflict requires review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. The conflict and need for review is also shown by comparing Division III's holding that delayed production of 174 days constituted "constructive denial" of the PRA request subjecting the agency to fees, costs, and penalties, with Division II's Decision which found no PRA violation despite delays of 180, 231 and 434 days.

Division III correctly followed this Court's precedents and the PRA itself when determining that the 174 days of delay by the Yakima School District constituted a constructive denial of Ms. Cantu's document request.

...we hold that an agency's inaction, or lack of diligence in providing a prompt response to a records request can ripen into constructive denial for purposes of fees, costs, and penalties under the PRA. Cantu, 514 P.3d at 678 & ¶91.

Division III's detailed explanation at pp. 679-682, ¶¶93-111, will not be repeated here, but the Court is directed to it and its reliance on this Court's decisions. The Court also is directed to Williams' reconsideration motion included in the Appendix and incorporated herein for the juxtaposition of the *Cantu* decision and analysis with the Decision herein. App. A-22-39.

For purposes of determining whether review should be granted, suffice to say that the analyses and results of *Cantu* and Division II's Decision herein are not just incompatible, they are conflicting and irreconcilable. *See* App. A-23-24, 26-38. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), so that the same law applies throughout the State.

B. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the PRA and this Court's decisions which require prompt *production* of requested documents, not merely prompt responses.

Whether the PRA requires the prompt *production* of records by agencies is an issue of substantial public interest that

should be decided by this Court. Division II's Decision doesn't merely call into question whether prompt production is required, given the delays of 180, 231, and 424 days for separate requests; rather, it *deletes* the statute's requirement of prompt production of requested documents, contrary to legislative intent and this Court's decisions. Review should be granted to determine if agencies need only give delaying responses, not prompt production. This is a state-wide issue this Court should resolve.

C. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to confirm that the Department of Corrections is not exempt from the statewide policy of requiring prompt <u>production</u> of requested documents by government agencies.

Perhaps the most charitable interpretation of Division II's Decision is that it creates a unique exemption from the prompt production requirement for the Department of Corrections. But nowhere in the statute is such an exemption implied or stated, nor does the Decision purport to cite to one. Rather, case law confirms that DOC is subject to the same requirements of the PRA as other public agencies and entities. *See, e.g., Francis v.*

Wa. Dep't of Corrections, 178 Wn.App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013) (applying penalties to DOC for bad faith conduct in failing to timely respond to requests); *Prison Legal News, Inc. v. Department of Corrections*, 154 Wn.2d 628, 115 P.3d 316 (2005) (reversing lower courts to impose sanctions for failure to disclose records related to medical malpractice).

Review should be granted to confirm this issue of statewide import given the size and scope of the DOC, as documented by Respondents in their pleadings and by Division II in the Decision. See pages 9-10, App. A-9-10, figures for DOC. Those figures are similar to those for the Yakima School District recited in Cantu which caused Division III to hold: "The District is a large state agency. With great power, comes great responsibility," requiring thus substantial penalties commensurate with the "grave misconduct" in its constructive denial, citing Yousoufian. See Cantu at ¶144.

VI. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Carri Williams asks the Court to grant review and, after briefing and argument or *per curiam*, reverse and remand for determination of full fees and penalties.

This document contains 2,411 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.