FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/9/2022 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101450-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARRI WILLIAMS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Defendant-Appellee.

DEPARTMENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CANDIE M. DIBBLE, WSBA #42279 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division, OID #91025 1116 West Riverside Avenue, Ste 100 Spokane, WA 99201-1106 (509) 456-3123 Candie.Dibble@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Well Reasoned and Applied Well-Establish Principles Regarding the Requirement That Agencies Must Act with Reasonable Thoroughness and Diligence in Response to a PRA Request

In large part, Williams centers her request for discretionary review on the notion that the decision in *Cantu v*. *Yakima School District* conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. This argument fails for two reasons. First, facts of *Cantu* distinguish it from this case and other well established case law. *Cantu* merely applied the well-established case law requiring a reasonably prompt response to that distinct set of facts. The Court of Appeals in this case applied the same case law and concluded the Department's response timeframes were reasonable based on the facts in this case.

Second, *Cantu* did not reject the idea that the reasonableness of the agency's response is viewed in light of the

particular agency and the agency's workload in terms of other requests. It simply rejected that the facts supported that conclusion in that case. Again, based on the different facts present in this case, the Court of Appeals concluded that the Department's timeframes were reasonable.

Finally, *Cantu* did not establish a bright-line rule that any response that takes longer than 174 days violates the PRA. Indeed, in *Cantu*, the Court recognized that the reasonableness standard is objective and "will depend on the circumstances of each case." As such, the Court of Appeals opinion in this case does not conflict with *Cantu*.

1. The *Cantu* decision was based on the specific facts of that case and did not reject the rule of reasonable promptness applied by the Court of Appeals in this case

In *Cantu*, the requestor made three PRA requests to the Yakima School District for records relating to her daughter's complaints of bullying and harassment. *Cantu v. Yakima School District No.* 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022). After receiving no records for 172 days, the requestor filed a lawsuit

arguing that the District had constructively denied her request.

Cantu, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 88.

In support of its decision affirming that the school district constructively denied Cantu's request, the court pointed to the school district's failure to effectively communicate with the requestor, including its failure to provide a reasonable estimate of time for its response. Cantu, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 93. Without a time estimate to evaluate for reasonableness, the Court analyzed whether the school district had made diligent efforts to promptly provide the requested records. Cantu, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 93. After applying an objective standard of review to all of the facts, the Court held that the school district's efforts were far from diligent. Cantu, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 94. The school district failed to respond to the request within five days; provided no communication after it missed its initial estimated time frame, even after inquiries from Cantu; provided false information that it was closed for the summer; provided Cantu with an email link to an empty Google directory; and made no apparent efforts to actually work on the request. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 93-95. The Court declined to find that the school district was busy working on two other voluminous requests because the records specialist indicated that her ability to focus on her public records duties was limited by other responsibilities, including coordinating staff training and excursions, and finding housing for visiting students from China. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 95.

Because the school district's actions amounted to a constructive denial, the court held that providing the records later did not cure the violation and Cantu was entitled to penalties. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 96-97. The court remanded the case back to the trial court to determine the number of days of the constructive withholding and to assess a per diem penalty. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 97.

Unlike the school district in *Cantu*, DOC acted conscientiously and diligently. In *Cantu*, the school district staff member failed to send a five-day acknowledgement letter, failed to provide a reasonable estimate of time to produce responsive

records, and utterly failed in its obligation to communicate with the requestor. Conversely, here, Specialist Rivera sent out fiveday letters, including an estimate as to when the responsive documents would be produced. She also provided updates on the process, including document gathering, review, and third-party notifications. These efforts were done at the same time Specialist Rivera was balancing an active workload of 120 other requests. Additionally, multiple staff at the prison conducted searches for responsive records and IT conducted electronic searches to ensure it looked in all reasonable locations where the records would be maintained. The Department's actions here are the exact opposite of the district's actions in Cantu. Thus, Cantu is not analogous.

2. The Court's consideration of the Department's resources, including workload, is consistent with the *Cantu* decision that the reasonable standard depends on the circumstances of the case and that an agency's ongoing actions are evidence of diligence

Setting aside that the facts are distinguishable, the Court of Appeals' decision here is in harmony with *Cantu*. In making

its decision that the Department was diligent in its efforts, the Court of Appeals relied on the undisputed facts of the Department's large workload, the complexity of the requests, the volume of responsive records requiring review, and the Department's continued efforts to inform Williams of the progress.

Williams argues that *Cantu* "expressly rejected" an agency's defense of not having enough resources and an inability to prioritize. That is not the holding in *Cantu*. In determining diligence, the *Cantu* court specifically held that an agency's response before producing records can show diligence when facts support reasonable time estimates based on its workload and volume of responsive records. Citing *Andrews v*. *Washington State Patrol*, 183. Wn. App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (2014), *Cantu* noted that dismissal is proper when an agency acted with diligence, even if it missed its internal deadlines for production. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 95-96. Moreover, in its discussion of *Andrews*, the court in *Cantu* pointed out that the

Washington State Patrol's diligence was supported by facts showing it had 2,000 other requests pending and that it maintained consistent contact with the requestor by providing updated estimated time frames based on the number of responsive records to review and redact. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 106-107 citing *Andrews*, 183 Wn.App.at 651. The *Cantu* court then properly noted that the diligence exhibited by the Washington State Patrol in *Andrews* was not applicable to the facts before it. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 96.

Nowhere in its decision does *Cantu* reject a court's consideration of a responding agency's overall workload and/or resources in determining its diligence. Indeed, as discussed above, it recognized that the reasonableness of the agency's response "will depend on the circumstances of each case." *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 88.

Additionally, *Cantu* is devoid of any requirement that an agency must prioritize a request simply because the requestor says that the request is urgent. As the Court of Appeals decision

notes, Williams "fails to support her argument with any citation to authority" for the proposition that an agency must prioritize the requestor's claim of urgency.

Here, the Court of Appeals' decision, supported by facts concerning DOC's resources and workload, its diligence in gathering responsive documents, and its ongoing communication with the requestor, is entirely consistent with the *Cantu* holding.

3. Cantu did not hold that 174 days itself is an unreasonable time frame. It held that the school district's failure to act with diligence within those 174 days amounted to a constructive denial

Williams asserts that the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with *Cantu* because the Department's final production of responsive records took longer than 174 days. But *Cantu* does not stand for the blanket proposition that 174 days between request and production is a per se violation of the PRA. To the contrary, *Cantu* carefully analyzed the school district's actions—and inactions—during those 174 days. The court then held, based on the facts before it, that the school district's conduct was not diligent and did not support a 174 day delay in production of

records. *Cantu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 93-96. Again, the district admitted that it had "dropped the ball" and forgotten about the request.

Here, the Court of Appeals used the same factors considered in Cantu and previous decisions, in determining whether the Department's response time was reasonable. In making that determination, and consistent with other case law, the court viewed the agency's response in light of the agency's workload and resources. See Forbes v. City of Gold Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 864-66, 288 P.3d 384 (2012); Freedom Foundation v. Department of Health and Social Services, 9 Wn. App. 2d 654, 659-660, 445 P.3d 971 (2019); Rufin v. City of Seattle, 199 Wn. App. 348, 357-58, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017). The Court of Appeals then appropriately based its decision affirming dismissal on the Department's large workload, the complexity of Williams' requests, the volume of responsive records, and other factors evidencing that the Department was making all efforts to move forward with providing responsive records. This analysis

is consistent with the *Cantu* decision and other case law evaluating the reasonableness of agency time estimates.

Accordingly, review here is not warranted.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Neither Conflicts With Nor Provides An Exemption for the PRA's Requirement of Prompt Review

As discussed above, the Court of Appeals analyzed the promptness of the Department's response and determined that it was reasonably prompt. For the reasons discussed above, that decision was correct. The Court of Appeals did not hold—and the Department did not argue—that it was somehow exempt from the requirement that its response must be reasonably prompt. As such, this issue does not present a basis for discretionary review.

Williams argues that the Court must grant review because the Court of Appeals decision here conflicts with or exempts DOC from the PRA's "prompt production" requirement. However, other than broad assertions that Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the PRA, and that DOC is a large agency

and must be deterred from "bad acts," Williams provides no authority to support her argument. The Court of Appeals did not reach such a conclusion.

The Court of Appeals decision here is well-supported and well-reasoned. It bases its decision on a "fact-specific inquiry" into whether the Department's response "was thorough and diligent." Freedom Found., 9 Wn. App. 2d at 673. That inquiry included facts that in the year that Williams filed her requests, DOC received a total of 13,892 public records requests. CP 749, 759. Even considering only Level 3 (complex) requests like Williams', the Department that year produced more than 610,000 pages of records under the PRA. CP 760-761. Moreover, each Specialist in the PRU had an average of 120 requests on their workload, and Department staff spent 36,640 hours responding to PRA requests in TOTAL, which included more than 1,200 hours on just five pending requests. CP 763, 768, 777. The Court of Appeals also considered the complexity of requests P-7712 and P-8646 and the volume of data that was produced by an IT search of email records. CP 754-755.

Considering all of the facts, the Court of Appeals ruled "there was no unreasonable delay." That holding does not conflict with holdings requiring an agency to provide the "most timely possible action on requests for information." *Freedom Found.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 673. Nor does it create an exemption from timely action for the Department. Instead, the Court, using established case law as its guide, correctly determined that the DOC responded diligently to Williams' requests. Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted.²

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision in this case is carefully reasoned and consistent with case law. Petitioner Williams has

² Williams includes additional "issues presented for review." However, in the Petition, she makes no actual substantive arguments addressing these issues. The Court will not consider arguments that are not developed in the briefs; therefore, the Department does not address the issues. *McKee v. American Home Products, Corp.*, 113 Wn. 2d 701, 782 P.2d 701 (1989).

failed to show that any of the RAP 13.4 criteria for acceptance of review are satisfied. Therefore, this Court should deny review.

VI. CERTIFICATION

This document contains 4,484 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.